IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EUGENE W. McWATTERS,)	
Annallant)	
Appellant,)	
vs.)	CASE NO. SC07-51
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

Criminal Justice Building 421 3RD Street/6TH Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600; 624-6560 appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Martin County, Florida. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this court.

"R" will denote the record on appeal which is contained in volumes 1 through 41 and contains 5523 pages - the pages are numbered consecutively 1-5523.

"T" will denote the transcript pages contained in volumes 42-71 and contains 4012 pages - the pages are numbered consecutively 1-4012.

"SR" will denote the supplemental record which has 3 volumes of transcript with 33 pages and 1 volume of record with 37 pages - the pages are numbered consecutively 1-70.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 6, 2004, Appellant was charged by indictment with murder in the first degree and sexual battery upon Jackie Bradley in case no. 04-959CF. R1466-68.

On July 6, 2004, Appellant was charged by indictment with murder in the first degree and sexual battery upon Christal Wiggins in case no. 04-957-CF. R10-12.

On July 6, 2004, Appellant was charged by indictment with murder in the first degree, sexual battery, and petit theft upon Carrieann Caughey in case no. 04-961-CF. R2904-06.

Cases 04-957-CF (Wiggins) and 04-961-CF (Caughey) were joined for trial. Case No. 05-959 CF (Bradley) was to be tried separately.

In case no. 04-959CF (Bradley) Appellant moved to exclude the introduction of collateral crime evidence from the Wiggins and Caughey cases. T309, 321-322, 328. Appellant's motion was denied R546-47. As a result the three cases were consolidated for trial. SR11-12, 15.

A jury trial commenced on September 11, 2006. At the close of the case, Appellant moved for judgments of acquittal T3242, 3250. Appellant's motions were denied T3250, 3251. The petit theft charge was nolle prossed.

Appellant was found guilty of three counts of first degree murder and three counts of sexual battery as charged R998-999,1406,2844,4448.

The jury's recommendation for the death penalty was: 9 to 3 in the Bradley case T3870; 10 to 2 in the Wiggins case T3870; and 10 to 2 in the Caughey case T3870. On

December 4, 2006, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death in all three cases R4402-4445, 1408, 2846, 4450. The trial court sentenced Appellant to consecutive life sentences on each of the sexual battery convictions R1409, 2847, 4451. A timely notice of appeal was filed R4462. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was on trial for the murders of Jackie Bradley, Christal Wiggins, and Carrie Caughey. The relevant facts of each case are presented below.

JACKIE BRADLEY

Thomas Field testified he lived at a campsite in the woods in the Golden Gate area of Stuart T1906. Field was Baker acted on March 30, 2004 T1910. Field last saw Jackie Bradley on March 28 T1910. Field was at the camp drinking beer with others 1911. There was a conversation about Bradley's desire to wash up with a shower or bath 1914. Appellant suggested Bradley could go to his sister's house on Garden Street 3 blocks away T1916.

Austin Cottle, Jr. testified he last saw Jackie Bradley at Tommy Field's camp T1945-46. Bradley stated she wanted to take a bath or shower T1946. Appellant said she could get a shower at his sister's house T1948. Appellant, Bradley and Glen Burbaugh walked down the street T1948. After Bradley's death, Glen Burbaugh would state, "Revenge is best served cold" T1968.

Terry McElroy testified he lived in the woods in March of 2004 T1970. Jackie Bradley was McElroy's off and on girlfriend T1970. Bradley came back from Georgia with a head wound and said her boyfriend beat her up T1970. Bradley then came to live with McElroy T1971. McElroy was beat up at his camp in the woods T1971. Bradley

¹ Burbaugh had earlier made a threat to choke Bradley to death T1952, however the statement was never admitted into evidence (see Point IX).

took McElroy to Thomas Field's camp T1971. Appellant was at the camp and stated he was going to get Bradley cleaned up T1976. Bradley said she was going to get cleaned up and would be back in an hour T1975-76. McElroy never saw Bradley again T1977.

On March 31, 2004, Jackie Bradley's body was found in a canal T2003-07, 2356.

Sergeant Sanford Shirk of the Martin County Sheriff's Office testified he was called to the scene where Bradley's body was found T2014. Bradley was found in a ditch which connects two ponds T2015. The area was a residential area with houses and streets T2014. A person standing in the ditch would be visible T2025. The area was visible to houses facing opposite of the ditch T2016. The body was floating in the ditch T2026. The body had been submerged and there was some decomposition T2032. The body was partially clothed with a T-shirt bunched up around the armpit area T2016, 2024. There was a bra on beneath the T-shirt T2040. The bra was pulled up over the breasts T2041. Shirt and pants were found floating near the body T2039. Two sneakers were found nearby T2041. The ditch was later drained of water T2049. Rocks were found once the water level receded T2049. The rocks were collected T2050. There was a large pile of rocks at the end of Garden Street T2052. These rocks were similar to the rocks in the ditch T2053. Footwear impressions were found at the scene T2062.

Dr. Charles Diggs is an associate medical examiner T2310. Diggs testified that on March 31, 2004, he responded and observed Bradley's body T2324-25. Diggs

remembers the clothing was disheveled and did not remember clothing on the lower extremities T2325. Diggs conducted an autopsy the following day T2326. Bradley was 43 years old T2326. The toxicology report showed the presence of .237 of alcohol T2327-28. There was very advanced decomposition consistent with 4 or 5 days T2330. Diggs did not observe any lacerations, contusions, or hemorrhages T2331. There were no contusions or hemorrhages to the vaginal area T2332. In many cases vaginal trauma can be seen despite decomposition T2332. The neck area showed decomposition and maggots T2333. An internal examination showed a fracture of the thyroid cartilage and hyoid bone T2334. When a person is strangled these structures are very often broken. Diggs could not find anything else T2334. There was no evidence of a struggle with Bradley T2366.

Diggs testified the cause of death was strangulation T2347. A person can lose consciousness in 20-30 seconds by strangulation T2348. It takes 3 minutes or shorter, or longer, before strangulation causes death T2349.

Earl Ritzline is a criminalist with the Indian River Crime Lab T2905. Ritzline analyzed the forensic evidence regarding Bradley. The vaginal swabs provided no evidence of spermatozoa T2923. Ritzline examined numerous pieces of Appellant's clothes (2 T-shirts, a tank top, a pullover, blue shorts, black shorts, a green coat) but could not find anything of forensic significance relating to Bradley T 2920. A single hair found under Bradley's nail was not significant T2916. A cigarette butt was found by Bradley T2921. It belonged to a female T2921.

CHRISTAL WIGGINS

Joseph Herbert testified that on Memorial Day 2004 he was at Donna Nicholson's house on Driftwood Avenue T2387, 2389. Donna and Appellant were there T2389. Later that evening Christal Wiggins arrived T2390. They were all partying T2390. They were smoking rock cocaine T2398. Herbert, his girlfriend, and Donna left T2391. Appellant and Wiggins were walking down the street together T2391. Herbert did not see Wiggins after that T2392. Herbert returned 45 minutes later T2402. Appellant returned to the house 2 or 3 times T2392. They allowed Appellant inside the first time but wouldn't answer the door the other times T2392. Appellant seemed weirded out like he was high on something T2392. Herbert's partying sometimes interferes with his ability to recall things T2404.

Cyndi Kaman testified that on Memorial Day of 2004 she went to Donna Nicholson's house with Joe Herbert T2417. About 10 p.m. Kaman left with Nicholson and Herbert T2419. Appellant and Wiggins were standing by a car in the driveway T2419. Kaman returned a half hour later T2419. Appellant came to the door 5 or 6 times T2419. Each time Appellant returned he was more fidgety and had less clothes T2419. Appellant was not allowed in and was told to leave T2420. The last time Appellant came back was 12 or 1 a.m. T2420. Appellant had returned to the house a total of 7 times T2423. Kaman testified the others had been using crack cocaine T2424. Some people get hyped up and sweaty do to the use of crack cocaine T2425.

Jodie Janata testified that Christal Wiggins is her best friend and Janata lived 2

houses down from Donna Nicholsen T2407. Janata saw Appellant early Monday morning on May 31 T2408. Janata was sitting in a car with her boyfriend when Appellant approached T2409. Appellant said that Jenny set up Joe and Janata replied that it's over with T2409. Janata went inside the house T2409. Appellant followed but was not let inside T2409-10. Appellant then left T 411. Appellant was hyper and sweaty T410. Appellant looked like he was under the influence of crack cocaine T2411. The last time Janata saw Christal Wiggins was earlier that night T2414. Janata saw Wiggins going to the corner and Wiggins said she would right back T2414. Janata has never seen Wiggins since T2414. That was at 10:30 or 11:00 T2415.

Thomas Curry testified he was home the early morning hours of May 31, 2004, T2435. Curry saw Appellant between 2 and 4 a.m. T2435. Appellant was asked to leave T2435. Appellant knocked on the door at 6:00 a.m. T2436. Curry did not answer the door T2436.

Charlotte Hurley testified she was a friend of Wiggins T2875. In March of 2002 Wiggins and Appellant went into the woods north of Cane Road T2877. Other people may have been present T2879. This is an area where Hurley would smoke crack T2879.

On June 7, 2004, Sergeant Tommy Nield found the decaying body of Cristal Wiggins in an area near Cane Road T2560-2565. Nield first saw a sock then found the rest of the body T2565.

Detective Joey Obermeyer testified that Wiggins' body was found 300 feet from an area where sex and drugs were performed T2569-70. A sock was located on the foot of

the body T2575. Undergarments were found in a nearby tree T2576. A shirt and bra were pulled up around Wiggins neck T2580. Nearby cigarette butts and cans were submitted for DNA T2581. To the East of the area where the body was found some dirt was disturbed T2575.

Sergeant Shirk testified that a hair was found on one of Wiggins' fingers T2590. White sneakers were found in palmetto bushes T2591.

Medical examiner, Dr. Roger Mittleman, testified that on June 7, 2004, he went to the scene of Cristal Wiggins' body T2996. Wiggins was laying on her back and her blouse and bra were pulled up over her neck area T2997. Wiggins was naked from the waist down T2998. On June 8, 2004, Mittleman performed an autopsy on Wiggins T2997. There was a small amount of alcohol and cocaine in Wiggins' brain T2999. Mittleman examined the vaginal area but nothing was found T3001. Other than an internal examination of Wiggins' neck there were no signs of trauma to Wiggins T3001. Mittleman peeled the skin from the neck and found insect and maggot activity T3002-03. The hyoid bone was missing T3002-03. This could be missing due to insect activity T3012. There was a fracture to the back of the Adams apple T3010. This may have been a preexisting condition as the original structure of cartilage was forming bone T The cause of death was asphyxia consistent with some type of manual 3018. strangulation T3013. The evidence was consistent with both a consensual sex act followed by a homicide and a homicide during a sex act T3016.

The criminalist, Earl Ritzline, testified that the sex crime kit of Wiggins showed

nothing of forensic significance T2935. Ritzline did not test the hair on Wiggins' finger T2942. Ritzline did not find the hair on the finger to be significant T2932. Sixteen hairs were found on Wiggins' shirt T2936. Most had their natural root T2936. There was no DNA evidence that incriminated Appellant T2944. Appellant's clothes were tested but there was no significance T2939-44.

CARRIE CAUGHEY

Linda Caughey testified that she was Carrie Caughey's mother T2449. Carrie had a drug problem T2456. Mrs. Caughey last saw her on May 29, 2004 T2450. Caughey was wearing sandals, blue jeans, a white shirt, and a bathing suit top T2450.

Errin Cassidy testified that on Memorial Day weekend of 2004 she saw Carrie Caughey at the Heritage Inn Hotel at Hope Sound at 11:00 p.m. T2454. Cassidy and Sugar man took Caughey to Port Salerno T2454. Cassidy took Caughey behind the Li'l Saints store so she could prostitute to get money for crack T2456. Cassidy waited a half hour but Caughey did not return T2454. Cassidy went back to the Heritage Inn Hotel at 12:30 T2454. Caughey was at the hotel with a skinny older man with curly hair T2455-56. Caughey was smoking crack T2455. She left with the older man at 11:30 a.m. T2455. This is the last time Cassidy saw Caughey

T2457. The older man returned around 3:00 a.m. T2455-56.

Jerry Prevatt testified he knew Caughey and she was known to have a drug problem and to engage in prostitution T2459, 2461-2. Prevatt was robbed between May

30 and May 31, 2004, at the Heritage Inn T2463. Prevatt saw Caughey this evening – she wore jean shorts, a light colored top and a bathing suit top underneath T2464. Prevatt did drugs with Caughey in his room T2464. Caughey went to get more dope but came running back saying that 3 guys on the other side of the hotel were fixing to rob Prevatt T2465. Prevatt and Caughey left the hotel at 11:30 T 2465. They went to the L'il Saints store up on Driftwood to get more dope T2466. At approximately 2:00 a.m. they talked to Appellant about getting some dope T2467. Appellant was riding a bicycle T2469. They waited for Appellant to return with drugs but he returned without drugs T2476. Caughey got out of Prevatt's truck because she had some friends around the corner T2476. Caughey walked up the street and turned left T2478. Appellant came around the corner on his bike T2478. Appellant yelled to Caughey and she turned around a couple of times T2478. Appellant rode up to Caughey T2478. Prevatt thought everything was fine and drove to his house T2478.

Caughey's body was found in a wooded area at the end of Lincoln Street T2500, 2504.

Sergeant Sanford Shirk testified there were some houses in the area T2504. Caughey was nude from the waist down T2504. Her shirt and bathing suit top were pulled up to expose her breasts T2521. The body appeared to be covered with some vegetation T2505. The body was in a bad state of decomposition and there was insect activity T2504. The body was 12 or 15 feet into a wooded area T2524. Jeans were found 12 feet from the body T2524. Underwear was not found T2535. Caughey's arms

were outstretched and her legs were crossed over one another T2525. There were no luminol results in the area T2535. There was a large retention pond near where the body was found T2554.

Criminalist Earl Ritzline testified there was nothing of forensic value taken from Caughey or her clothes T2926,2931. Medical examiner Charles Diggs testified he performed the autopsy on Carrie Caughey. There was no evidence of lacerations, bleedings or bruises T2962. Caughey had a lot of cocaine in her body T2964. An internal examination of the neck showed the styloid process broken T2965. Sometimes when a person is strangled needle like bones which protract from the area beneath the ear are broken T2965. Caughey's hyoid bone was broken at the joint T2965. Strangulation is different for the styoid process because it is higher in the neck T2070-71. In Diggs' opinion the cause of death is strangulation T2972.

APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS

Sergeant Brian Bergen spoke with Jessica Aleman after Jackie Bradley's body was found T2079. Aleman's house was approximately 100 feet from where the body was found T2082. Appellant, Aleman's brother, lives with Aleman and was also present T2080-82. Appellant seemed uninterested and unemotional T2083. Appellant rarely made eye contact T 2084.

Bergen took a taped statement from Appellant on April 2, 2004 T 2097. The tape was played to the jury T2103-2225. Appellant explained he was really high on the day Bergen was at his sister's house T2222-23. Appellant was shown a photo and initially did

not recognize the person T2160. However, after looking at the photo Appellant recognized Jackie 2161, 2215-16. The last time Appellant saw her was two weeks ago T2161. On Friday Appellant was at a camp when Hippie Ray hit Terry and told him to leave T2180. Paul Bowman would give Appellant money for drugs T 2186. Appellant got drugs for himself instead of Bowman T 2186, 2192. Bradley was not at the camp when Appellant was there T2192.

Sergeant Bergen testified he interviewed Appellant on June 7, 2004 T 2599. Appellant was on crutches and his right foot was in a bandage T 2599. Appellant had facial hair and an abrasion on the side of his face T 2600.

Appellant's June 7, 2004, statement was played to the jury. Appellant indicated a week earlier he was at Donna Nicholsen's house smoking crack cocaine T2684, 2688, 2730. Another girl arrived and they continued to smoke T 735. Donna and others left T2735. Appellant and a heavy set girl remained T2737. Appellant would later go to Jodie's to score some dope T2738. The heavyset girl walked off and got into a car with someone T2738. At Jodie's house, Appellant tried to go inside but was told to leave T 2739. Appellant went to Donna's house and when she returned he went inside and continued to smoke T2739. After smoking at Donna's, Appellant went to get some drugs to sell T2751. Appellant rode his bicycle around smoking dope and selling dope T 2756, 2766. Appellant foot was run over when he was selling drugs T2714, 2763. Appellant fell to the gravel T2771. It did not hurt because Appellant was high T2763. Appellant sold some dope after the accident and then proceeded to the hospital T2754. This

occurred around 5:00 a.m. T 2765. When Appellant earlier said he had an ATV accident he was trying to cover up the fact he had sold crack cocaine T2751. Appellant smoked \$80 worth of crack that night T 2795.

On June 18, 2004, police got a written statement from Appellant T2868. A written questionnaire was given to Appellant T2871-72. Appellant denied any involvement in the murders of the three girls T2872-3.

THE JUNE 23, 2004, STATEMENT

On June 23, 2004, a plan was set in motion to arrest Appellant on an unrelated charge and to interview Appellant T3026. Lt. Cedric Humphrey was to arrest Appellant at a McDonalds on an unrelated charge T3026, 3030. Humphrey read Miranda rights at McDonalds but was instructed not to engage Appellant in interrogation T 3026, 3034. The plan included purposely placing Appellant in a task force room with photos, rocks, and reports all pertaining to the homicides T3027, 3035. The police went through with the plan.

Dougherty testified that it was planned that Humphrey Mirandize Appellant rather than Dougherty T3233. Appellant was not read his rights at the station nor did Dougherty mention that Appellant had previously been read his rights T 3233. The plan was to set up this psychological ruse so Appellant would not exercise his Miranda rights T3233. The walls of the room Appellant was left in had police reports, photos, and witness statements T3238-40. Appellant initially denied being involved in Jackie Bradley's death but interrogators told him there were witnesses who saw him with her and thought he killed

her:

with the evidence:

"Mr. Silvas: That's the problem we're having. We have all these witnesses who saw you leave with her.

"Mr McWatters: See, I don't know these witnesses that you're talking about. You know what I'm saying?

"Mr. Silvas: You know them all. The – the Austins, both Austins, Senior and Junior.

"Mr. Silvas: So they – they – they – they think you killed Jackie.

T3047-48. The interrogators continued to tell Appellant what others had told them T3050-53. Appellant told interrogators that he had seen the wall in the task force room

"Mr. McWatters:I seen what the fuck it says on the goddamned – on the wall in there. I read everything.

"Mr. Silvas: What was in there?

"Mr. McWatters: What was in there? All a bunch of bullshitting junk all concocted and collected together that you fucking got up in there.

"Mr. Dougherty: Was he in the room?

"Mr. McWatters: Oh, I was in the room, boy, and fucking read everything. There's no sense in playing with me. I know what you have on the fucking wall. I know where you're coming from. I know exactly what you are using – fucking saying – the people are fucking saying.

"Mr. Dougherty: So you know it's over.

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