IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-51

EUGENE W. McWATTERS,
APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

.....

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

WILLIAM McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 Jason Pollack Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0022862 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

Henderson v. State, 463 So. 2d 196, 200 (Fla.).

Applying these principles, it is clear the photographs were relevant and admissible. They were used to describe the state of Bradley's and Caughey's clothing when the bodies were found, the location of Bradley's injuries, and each bodies extensive decomposition which prevented the State from submitting forensic evidence the jury might expect in the age of CSI. Where the court has viewed the evidence and determined it relevant and necessary for a complete understanding of the testimony, the ruling should not be overturned. Lott v. State, 695 So.2d 1239, 1243 (Fla. 1997)(finding no error where judge viewed prints and found them necessary and relevant to demonstrate manner of death, nature of injuries, and how they were inflicted); Larkins v. State, 655 So.2d 95, 98 (Fla. 1995)(same). Diggs's testimony demonstrated that he actually relied on these photographs, they were carefully selected from a far larger number of available photographs, and involved issues the State needed to prove; thus, none were gratuitous. The Court should find there was no abuse of discretion since the photographs were relevant to the case issues and their probative value outweighed any prejudicial effect.

POINT VIII

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY OVERRULED APPELLANT'S HEARSAY AND CONFRONTATION CLAUSE OBJECTIONS.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by allowing, over objection, the introduction of certain portions of his statements into evidence. Specifically,

McWatters contends that not only was it error to admit certain hearsay statements into evidence, but that by allowing certain portions of Appellant's statement into evidence, the trial court violated his constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him. The state counters that the trial court properly admitted appellant's statement and therefore did not abuse its discretion. This issue is without merit.

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's determination will not be disturbed on appellate review absent a clear abuse of that discretion. <u>Tanzi v. State</u>, 964 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 2007). Under the abuse of discretion standard, "[d]iscretion is abused only 'when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." <u>Trease</u>, 768 So.2d at 1053 n. 2.

Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at trial or hearing, offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Banks v. State, 790 So. 2d 1094, 1097 (Fla. 2001). Central to this issue are certain statements made by the interrogating officers in order to elicit inculpatory responses from Appellant. The jury heard these statements as part of the recorded statement the State entered into evidence.

MR. SILVAS: You saying we never - - you never saw her after that?

MR. MCWATTERS: Never talked to her after that.

MR. SILVAS: That's the problem we're having. We have all of these witnesses who saw you leave with her.

MR. MCWATTERS: See, I don't know what witnesses that you're talking about. You know what I'm saying?

MR. SILVAS: You know them all. The - - the Austins, both Austins, Senior and Junior.

MR. MCWATTERS: See, then again, I talked to the Austins, too, and the Austins told me the only reason why they told the Sheriff's Department that was because they were mad at me. I wish I had an audio.

MR. SILVAS: Well, I - - well, the Austins - - the last time I talked to the Austins they were going to beat you up.

MR. MCWATTERS: Yeah, I talked to them personally myself.

MR. SILVAS: So they - - they - - they - - they think you killed Jackie.

MR. MCWATTERS: Yeah. That's why I - - that's why Austin Junior got mad, because Senior was telling me the truth.

...

MR. SILVAS: What about Shep?

MR. MCWATTERS: What's he say? He said that I admitted fucking giving the girl a ride on the bicycle. I seen what the fuck it says on the goddamned - - on the wall in there. I read everything.

...

MR. SILVAS: What I was going to say is that you told Shep - -

MR. MCWATTERS: I didn't tell Shep shit.

MR. SILVAS: Well, you did.

MR. MCWATTERS: I'm reading it on the wall, though.

MR. SILVAS: But I'm just telling you, brother, you told Shep.

MR. MCWATTERS: I didn't tell Shep.

MR. SILVAS: He can testify in court. You told him that you gave her a ride home.

MR. MCWATTERS: Yeah, that's what (inaudible).

MR. SILVAS: You had her in the house.

MR. MCWATTERS: That's what I said - -

MR. SILVAS: That's what he is going to say.

MR. MCWATTERS: That's why I was (inaudible).

MR. SILVAS: You can call him a liar.

MR. MCWATTERS: That's why I was just (inaudible) - -

MR. SILVAS: Why don't you call him a liar?

(T.3047-55).

This exchange with the police is admissible since such questions are not hearsay and were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. During interrogations officers often employ various strategies designed to elicit inculpatory responses. As this Court has recognized, the United States Supreme Court has often held that officers are permitted to deceive suspects regarding the evidence they have against them. See Frazier v. Cupp, 394 U.S. 731, 739(1969); Escobar v. State, 699 So. 2d 988, 994 (Fla. 1997); Grant v. State, 171 So. 2d 361, 363 n.1 (Fla. 1965). If these techniques actually do elicit an inculpatory response, it would be the pertinent portion of the statement, not necessarily the questions which serve as a backdrop. Should this statement be played for the jury, anything said by the interrogating officers would be included simply to place the defendant's inculpatory statements into context.

Although Appellant cites multiple cases to support his position, none of them directly deal with the issue at bar. In <u>Sparkman v. State</u>, 902 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), the issue centered around a police interrogation where the court ruled that the detectives recitation of facts, and lack of actual questioning, was akin to testimony and therefore hearsay. The same issue is discussed in <u>Pausch v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1216 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) and <u>Newsome v. State</u>, 735 So. 2d 546 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). Indeed, the pervasive issue within all of Appellant's cases all miss the mark as they deal solely with a detective testifying for, rather than questioning,

the suspect. However, the Second District Court of Appeals did consider the exact issue at bar in Worden v. State, 603 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992):

The questions propounded and statements of the detectives were not offered for their truth, but were offered to place appellant's answers in context. For that reason, the questions were relevant. The only question is whether the probative value of the testimony is outweighed by the harm or prejudice to appellant. Since the questions were set forth in their proper context, interrogation of a suspected child abuser, we conclude that a rational jury would understand that law enforcement officers use many techniques to secure confessions and that the methods used here were indicative of that.

Worden, at 583. This Court should find the same logic applies here.

The officer's comments here were not used for the truth of the matter asserted and, thus, did not violate the confrontation clause. However, even if this Court finds the statements hearsay, Appellant has not demonstrated how he has been harmed in any way. The statement was played for the jury during the interrogating detective's direct testimony. The witnesses that were the subject of the detective's statements in issue testified as well. Appellant was given every opportunity to confront these witnesses on cross examination. It cannot be said that Appellant suffered any harm. This issue is without merit.

POINTS IX AND X

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED ON THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CERTAIN EVIDENCE. (restated)

Appellant argues in point IX that the trial court improperly excluded certain proffered testimony by Austin Cottle Jr. ("Cottle"). If allowed, Cottle would have

testified that Glen Burbaugh threatened to choke Bradley to death if she went back with John Powell. In point X, Appellant alleges that the trial court improperly allowed into evidence a certain statement made by Jerry Prevatt ("Prevatt"). Because this statement was admitted into evidence, Appellant argues that the State impugned his character. As both claims are procedurally barred, no relief will be granted. Furthermore, Appellant has not demonstrated in any way how these issues can be considered fundamental error. These issues are wholly without merit.

As addressed in the previous claim, the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's determination will not be disturbed on appellate review absent a clear abuse of that discretion. Tanzi, 964 So. 2d 106. See Thomas v. State, 748 So.2d 970, 982 (Fla. 1999)(trial judge is afforded wide discretion regarding the admissibility of evidence and a ruling admitting or excluding evidence will not, generally, be reversed unless there has been a showing of an abuse of discretion); Sexton v. State, 697 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1997).

The Cottle Jr. Statement

Initially Appellant's claim under point IX is entitled to no relief as it was waived at trial. For an issue to be reviewable on appeal, it must be properly preserved by a contemporaneous objection on the same grounds as raised on

appeal or the error must be fundamental. <u>Steinhorst</u>, 412 So.2d at 338; <u>J.B.</u>, 705 So.2d at 1378. The of contemporaneous objection requirement affords both trial judges the opportunity to address and possibly redress a claimed error and prevents counsel from allowing errors to go unchallenged and later using the error to a client's tactical advantage. <u>See J.B.</u>, 705 So.2d at 1378; <u>F.B.</u>, 852 So.2d 226.

At trial, Appellant wished to introduce testimony by Cottle that Burgbaugh threatened to choke Bradley to death if he caught her with another man. (T.1952). Upon a hearsay objection by the State, defense counsel argued that the statement should be admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule under §90.803(3), as a statement of plan or intent. So as to fully understand the statement in question, the court requested to hear the proffered testimony. During that proffer, Cottle testified that he was not even present when the statement was originally made.

- Q Mr. Cottle, Sr., did you ever overhear Glenn Burbaugh threaten to kill Jackie Bradley?
- A No, I did not.
- Q You didn't?
- A No. I did hear -- I did hear him threaten, though, if she went back with John Powell that he would choke her to death.
- Q Okay. You heard that?
- A I heard that.
- Q And Glenn Burbaugh made that statement?
- A Yeah, he said that statement.
- Q And that was the issue that if she went with another man, in this instance being --
- A He would choke her to death.
- Q He would choke her to death?
- A Right.
- MR. AKINS: I have nothing further in the proffer.

MS. KIRKWOOD: May I?

- Q Was Jackie Clark present when that statement was made? Was Jackie there when that statement was made?
- A That was made in Atlanta, Georgia. Then when she -- when she came back to Port Salerno she told me about it.
- Q So you didn't actually hear Mr. Burbaugh say that?
- A No, I didn't actually hear him say it, I just said she told me what he said.

. . .

- Q But the statement that Mr. -- that Burbaugh made to Jackie Bradley Clark was made in Georgia and you weren't there?
- A No. But she told us about it when she come back home.

(T.1952-53). During the argument following this proffer, it was Appellant who acknowledged that the statement was inadmissible as hearsay within hearsay. In fact, counsel clarified that the hearsay argument did not apply to the statement at issue here, but in fact to a second statement made later during the proffer.

THE COURT: Well, the first statement dealt with a threat of future action should Miss Bradley take certain action. The second statement, the one alleged to have been made in Florida, was an after-the-death statement dealing with feelings of revenge.

MR. UDELL: Okay. Just want to take them one at a time. Give me a moment.

MR. AKINS: Your Honor, the first statement, let me put it on the record. I think it's pretty clear that the first statement is hearsay within hearsay and therefore there's not an exception to that.

THE COURT: And I appreciate the candor because I agree with you.

(T.1960-61). This issue was clearly waived by Appellant's own concession. However, even if this Court were to reach the merits of this issue, Appellant has not demonstrated any cognizable claim arising to the level of fundamental error for which relief should be granted.

"[I]n order to be of such fundamental nature as to justify a reversal in the absence of timely objection the error must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Brown v. State, 124 So.2d 481, 484 (Fla.1960);see State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla.1993) (stating that "for an error to be so fundamental that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process").

This court has previously held that vague and conclusory allegations on appeal are insufficient to warrant relief. Smith v. State, 931 So. 2d 790, 800 (Fla.), cert. denied, 127 S. Ct. 587, 166 L. Ed. 2d 436 (2006). see Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived."); see also Simmons v. State, 934 So. 2d 1100, 1111 n.12 (Fla. 2006); Cooper v. State, 856 So. 2d 969, 977 n.7 (Fla. 2003); Randolph v. State, 853 So. 2d 1051, 1063 n.12 (Fla. 2003).

In addressing this issue, Appellant has merely alleged error by the trial court without showing how the verdict would have changed given the evidence against McWatters including his own confession to killing each of the three victims. In

explanation, Appellant offers only that the statement at issue would potentially assist in creating reasonable doubt by potentially inculpating Burbaugh.⁵ Because this issue was waived and, in the alternative, insufficiently pled, this Court must find this issue to be without merit.

The Prevatt Statement

Turning to Point X, Appellant argues that the trial court erred in admitting, over defense objection, a statement by Prevatt made during the State's direct examination. Specifically, Appellant alleges that by permitting him to testify that he was afraid of McWatters, the trial court erroneously allowed the prosecution to impugn Appellant's character. However, McWatters mischaracterizes Prevatt's statement. Trial counsel objected on different grounds than those asserted here so this issue was not preserved and, therefore, is also waived.

Discussing an arrangement Prevatt made with Appellant to obtain drugs, the State asked whether or not he had given Appellant any money towards achieving that end. Prevatt replied that he had not, and when asked why, he stated that he was "afraid that [he] would get ripped off." Upon hearing this statement, defense counsel immediately objected.

MR. AKINS: Your Honor, I'm not sure if I recall a Williams rule notice for

76

⁵ Although Appellant correctly states the proposition for which <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 536, 539 (Fla. 1990) stands, he has not demonstrated the relevancy of the case to the issue at bar.

any type of theft committed or a suggestion of committing a theft by Eugene Mcwatters. I suggest this is a collateral issue that should not have been put before the jury.

THE COURT: Okay. As raised, overruled. Motion is denied.

(T.2468). Although defense counsel was concerned with a possible <u>Williams</u> rule violation, Appellant's contention at bar raises concerns about the impugning of his character. Because this issue was not specifically objected to below, it cannot be raised here.

Likewise, there can be no fundamental error here as Appellant misconstrued Prevatt's statement. Prevatt never testified that he was afraid of Appellant. He only stated that he was worried about Appellant stealing his money. In so doing, he was explaining his actions at the time defendant made contact with Caughey. As such, these issues do not constitute fundamental error. McWatters provides no reasoning on how this supposed error vitiated the jury's verdict. This Court must find them to be without merit.

POINT XI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION TO DISQUALIFY THE STATE ATTORNEY'S OFFICE. (Restated)

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